RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Form 10-Q November 06, 2015 **Table of Contents UNITED STATES** SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2015. OR Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For the transition period from to Commission file number 001-36101

RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 80-0937145
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

5075 South Syracuse Street

Denver, Colorado 80237 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(303) 770-5531

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant's Class A common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, and Class B common stock, par value \$0.0001, as of October 30, 2015 was 12,339,639 and 1, respectively.

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PART I. – FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page No.
Item 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	3
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014	3
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014	4
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014	5
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equit for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015	y 6
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014	7
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	29
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks	51
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	52
	PART II. – OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	53
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	53
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	58
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	58

<u>Item 4.</u>	Mine Safety Disclosures	58
Item 5.	Other Information	58
<u>Item 6.</u>	<u>Exhibits</u>	59
	SIGNATURES	60
2		

Table of Contents

PART I. – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	eptember 30, 015	ecember 31,
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 95,370	\$ 107,199
Escrow cash - restricted	78	693
Accounts and notes receivable, current portion, less allowances of \$4,836 and		
\$4,495, respectively	17,948	16,641
Accounts receivable from affiliates	26	231
Income taxes receivable	321	765
Other current assets	4,424	5,237
Total current assets	118,167	130,766
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of \$17,483 and		
\$19,993, respectively	2,561	2,661
Franchise agreements, net of accumulated amortization of \$97,430 and		
\$87,330, respectively	65,331	75,505
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of \$8,867 and		
\$8,550, respectively	4,233	2,725
Goodwill	71,976	72,463
Deferred tax assets, net	64,729	66,903
Investments in equity method investees	3,852	3,693
Debt issuance costs, net	1,604	1,896
Other assets	1,932	1,715
Total assets	\$ 334,385	\$ 358,327
Liabilities and stockholders' equity		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 421	\$ 561
Accounts payable to affiliates	1,172	1,114
Escrow liabilities	78	693
Accrued liabilities	10,765	9,380
Income taxes payable	150	189
Deferred revenue and deposits	18,294	17,142

Current portion of debt Current portion of payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements Other current liabilities Total current liabilities Debt, net of current portion Payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements, net of current portion	13,362 3,914 338 48,494 189,003 63,504	9,460 3,914 211 42,664 202,213 63,504
Deferred tax liabilities, net	173	190
Other liabilities, net of current portion	10,431	10,473
Total liabilities	311,605	319,044
Commitments and contingencies (note 12)		
Stockholders' equity:		
Class A common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, 180,000,000 shares authorized; 12,339,639 shares issued and outstanding as of		
September 30, 2015; 11,768,041 shares issued and outstanding as of		
December 31, 2014	1	1
Class B common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, 1,000 shares authorized; 1 share issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2015 and		
December 31, 2014		
Additional paid-in capital	247,303	241,882
Retained earnings	2,061	12,041
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income	(45)	886
Total stockholders' equity attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	249,320	254,810
Non-controlling interest	(226,540)	(215,527)
Total stockholders' equity	22,780	39,283
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 334,385	\$ 358,327

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
Revenue:					
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 18,905	\$ 18,523	\$ 54,833	\$ 54,251	
Annual dues	8,010	7,697	23,687	22,846	
Broker fees	9,321	8,279	24,988	21,853	
Franchise sales and other franchise revenue	5,624	5,472	19,535	17,935	
Brokerage revenue	3,250	4,269	10,551	11,534	
Total revenue	45,110	44,240	133,594	128,419	
Operating expenses:					
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	20,724	20,559	65,525	65,321	
Depreciation and amortization	3,765	3,767	11,384	11,517	
Loss (gain) on sale or disposition of assets, net	9		(606)	(1)	
Total operating expenses	24,498	24,326	76,303	76,837	
Operating income	20,612	19,914	57,291	51,582	
Other expenses, net:	·		·	•	
Interest expense	(2,338)	(2,255)	(7,448)	(7,007)	
Interest income	36	58	136	205	
Foreign currency transaction losses	(201)	(811)	(1,585)	(504)	
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	_	_	(94)	(178)	
Equity in earnings of investees	361	265	963	394	
Total other expenses, net	(2,142)	(2,743)	(8,028)	(7,090)	
Income before provision for income taxes	18,470	17,171	49,263	44,492	
Provision for income taxes	(3,277)	(3,116)	(8,882)	(8,130)	
Net income	\$ 15,193	\$ 14,055	\$ 40,381	\$ 36,362	
Less: net income attributable to					
non-controlling interest	10,396	9,780	27,907	25,299	
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,					
Inc.	\$ 4,797	\$ 4,275	\$ 12,474	\$ 11,063	
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. per share of Class A common stock					
Basic	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.37	\$ 1.03	\$ 0.95	
Diluted	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.35	\$ 1.01	\$ 0.90	

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Weighted average shares of Class A common

stock outstanding

stock outstanding				
Basic	12,333,690	11,579,669	12,127,548	11,593,738
Diluted	12,420,748	12,229,010	12,315,663	12,235,160
Cash dividends declared per share of Class A				
common stock	\$ 0.1250	\$ 0.0625	\$ 1.8750	\$ 0.1875

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Three Mon September		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
Net income	\$ 15,193	\$ 14,055	\$ 40,381	\$ 36,362	
Change in cumulative translation adjustment	(580)	(245)	(1,038)	(236)	
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax	(580)	(245)	(1,038)	(236)	
Comprehensive income	14,613	13,810	39,343	36,126	
Less: comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling					
interest	9,988	9,632	27,800	25,156	
Comprehensive income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.,					
net of tax	\$ 4,625	\$ 4,178	\$ 11,543	\$ 10,970	

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity

(In thousands, except share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	Class A common stock		Class B Additional common stock paid-in		Retained	Accumulother comprehe (loss)	ated Non- ensi ve trolling	Total stockholders	
	Shares	Amour	hShares	Amou	ncapital	earnings	income	interest	equity
Balances, January 1, 2015 Net income Distributions paid to	11,768,041	\$ 1 —	1_	\$ <u> </u>	\$ 241,882 —	\$ 12,041 12,474	\$ 886 —	\$ (215,527) 27,907	\$ 39,283 40,381
non-controlling unitholders Equity-based	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(38,813)	(38,813)
compensation expense Dividends paid to Class A common	_	_	_	_	1,098	_	_	_	1,098
stockholders Change in accumulated other	_	_	_	_	_	(22,454)	_	_	(22,454)
comprehensive (loss) income Issuance of Class A common stock,	_	_	_	_	_	_	(931)	(107)	(1,038)
equity-based compensation plans Excess tax benefit realized on exercise of stock options and delivery of vested	571,598	_	_	_	1,912	_	_	_	1,912
restricted stock units Balances,	_	_	_	_	2,411	_	_	_	2,411
September 30, 2015	12,339,639	\$ 1	1	\$ —	\$ 247,303	\$ 2,061	\$ (45)	\$ (226,540)	\$ 22,780

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2015	2014
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 40,381	\$ 36,362
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	11,384	11,517
Bad debt expense	555	289
Gain on sale or disposition of assets, net	(606)	(1)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	94	178
Equity-based compensation expense	1,098	532
Non-cash interest expense	324	273
Deferred income tax expense and other	1,831	1,322
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Accounts and notes receivable, current portion	(2,113)	(1,991)
Advances from/to affiliates	302	34
Other current and noncurrent assets	1,565	1,394
Other current and noncurrent liabilities	1,411	(2,136)
Deferred revenue and deposits, current portion	1,315	1,225
Net cash provided by operating activities	57,541	48,998
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Purchases of property, equipment and software	(2,066)	(1,017)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	17	2
Capitalization of trademark costs	(61)	(91)
Disposition	20	
Cost to sell assets	(71)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(2,161)	(1,106)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Payments on debt	(8,880)	(16,278)
Capitalized debt amendment costs	(555)	
Distributions paid to non-controlling unitholders	(38,813)	(18,881)
Dividends paid to Class A common stockholders	(22,454)	(2,173)
Payments on capital lease obligations	(237)	(156)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	2,032	54
Excess tax benefit realized on exercise of stock options and delivery of vested		
restricted stock units	2,411	179

Cancellation of vested restricted stock units for required tax withholding	(120)	(818)
Net cash used in financing activities	(66,616)	(38,073)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(593)	(66)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(11,829)	9,753
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	107,199	88,375
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 95,370	\$ 98,128
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:		
Cash paid for interest and debt amendment costs	\$ 7,126	\$ 6,692
Cash paid for income taxes	4,052	6,824
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:		
Note receivable received as consideration for sale of brokerage operations assets	\$ 430	\$ —
Capital leases for property and equipment	412	18
Increase in accounts payable for capitalization of trademark costs and purchases of		
property, equipment and software	381	155

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. Business and Organization

RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. ("RE/MAX Holdings") was formed as a Delaware corporation on June 25, 2013 and was capitalized on July 8, 2013. On October 7, 2013, RE/MAX Holdings completed an initial public offering (the "IPO") of 11,500,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of \$22.00 per share. A portion of the proceeds received by RE/MAX Holdings from the IPO was used to acquire the net business assets of HBN, Inc. ("HBN") and Tails, Inc. ("Tails") in the Southwest and Central Atlantic regions of the United States ("U.S."), respectively, which were subsequently contributed to RMCO, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries ("RMCO"), and the remaining proceeds were used to purchase common membership units in RMCO. After completion of the IPO, RE/MAX Holdings owned 39.56% of the common membership units in RMCO. As of September 30, 2015, RE/MAX Holdings owns 41.03% of the common membership units in RMCO. RE/MAX Holdings' only business is to act as the sole manager of RMCO and, in that capacity, RE/MAX Holdings operates and controls all of the business and affairs of RMCO. As a result, RE/MAX Holdings consolidates the financial position and results of operations of RMCO. RE/MAX Holdings and its consolidated subsidiaries, including RMCO, are referred to hereinafter as the "Company."

The Company is one of the leading franchisors of residential and commercial real estate brokerage services throughout the U.S. and globally. The Company also operates a small number of real estate brokerage offices in the U.S. The Company's revenue is derived from continuing franchise fees (which consist of fixed contractual fees paid monthly by regional franchise owners and franchisees based on the number of agents in the respective franchise region or franchisee's office), annual dues from agents, broker fees (which consist of fees paid by regional franchise owners and franchisees for real estate commissions paid by customers when an agent sells a home), franchise sales and other franchise revenue (which consist of fees from initial sales and renewals of franchises, regional franchise fees, preferred marketing arrangements, approved supplier programs and event-based revenue from training and other programs) and brokerage revenue (which consists of fees assessed by the Company's owned brokerages for services provided to their affiliated real estate agents). The Company, as a franchisor, grants each broker-owner a license to use the RE/MAX brand, trademark, promotional and operating materials and concepts.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and comprise the condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company and have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") and with Article 10 of Regulation S-X. In compliance with those instructions, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of RE/MAX Holdings and its consolidated subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. In the opinion of management, the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring

adjustments necessary to present fairly the Company's financial position as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the results of its operations and comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, changes in its stockholders' equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and results of its cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Interim results may not be indicative of full year performance. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements within the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas in which management uses assumptions include, among other things, the establishment of the allowance for doubtful trade accounts and notes receivable, the determination of the estimated lives of intangible assets, the estimates for amounts accrued for litigation matters, equity-based compensation, the estimates of the fair value of reporting units used in the annual assessment of goodwill, the fair value of assets acquired and the amounts payable pursuant to the terms of the Tax Receivable Agreements ("TRAs") discussed in more detail in Note 3, Non-controlling Interest. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

RE/MAX Holdings holds an approximate 40% economic interest in RMCO, but as its managing member, RE/MAX Holdings controls RMCO's operations, management and activities. As a result, RE/MAX Holdings consolidates RMCO and records a non-controlling interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and records net income attributable to the non-controlling interest and comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act ("JOBS Act"), the Company meets the definition of an emerging growth company. The Company has irrevocably elected to opt out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act.

In September 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting Measurement-Period Adjustments, which eliminates the requirement for an entity to retrospectively adjust the financial statements for measurement-period adjustments that occur in periods after a business combination is completed. ASU 2015-16 is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-10, Technical Corrections and Improvements, which both clarifies and simplifies content in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification and corrects unintended application of U.S. GAAP. ASU 2015-10 is effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement, which provides guidance on fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement and clarifies the accounting for a software license element of a cloud computing arrangement. ASU 2015-05 is effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or prospective transition method. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which requires an entity to present debt issuance costs related to a debt liability as a direct deduction from the debt liability rather than as an asset. ASU 2015-03 is effective retrospectively for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2015. The adoption of this standard is expected to impact the presentation of certain financial statement line items within the Company's consolidated balance sheets and related disclosures, but will not affect the Company's consolidated results of operations.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date, which defers the effective date of the guidance in ASU 2014-09 by one year. ASU 2014-09 is now effective for fiscal years, and interim reporting periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. The Company has not yet selected a transition method nor has it determined the effect of the standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity. ASU 2014-08 limits discontinued operations reporting to disposals of components of an entity that represent strategic shifts that have (or will have) a major effect on an entity's operations and financial results. ASU 2014-08 also provides guidance on the financial statement presentation and disclosures of discontinued operations. ASU 2014-08 became effective prospectively for the Company on January 1, 2015 and a sale that occurred during the second quarter of 2015 did not qualify as a discontinued operation. See Note 5, Dispositions, for additional information.

Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

There have been no changes in the Company's critical accounting judgments and estimates from those that were disclosed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company believes that the disclosures herein are adequate so that the information presented is not misleading.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

3. Non-controlling Interest

RE/MAX Holdings is the sole managing member of RMCO and subsequent to the IPO, began to operate and control all of the business affairs of RMCO. As a result, RE/MAX Holdings began to consolidate RMCO on October 7, 2013. RE/MAX Holdings owns a 41.03% and 39.89% minority economic interest in RMCO as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, and records a non-controlling interest for the remaining 58.97% and 60.11% economic interest in RMCO held by RIHI, Inc. ("RIHI") as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. RE/MAX Holdings' minority economic interest in RMCO increased due to the increase in common units which were issued concurrently with the issuance of shares of Class A common stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 upon the exercise of 564,443 stock options, the vesting of 5,154 restricted stock units and the grant of 2,001 shares, net of shares withheld and cancelled to cover the Company's minimum statutory tax withholding obligation. See Note 10, Equity-Based Compensation, for further details, RE/MAX Holdings' only sources of cash flow from operations are distributions from RMCO and management fees received pursuant to the management services agreement between RE/MAX Holdings and RMCO. "Net income attributable to non-controlling interest" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in RMCO held by the non-controlling unitholders. As of October 7, 2013, "Non-controlling interest" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets represented the carryover basis of RIHI's capital account in RMCO. Prospectively, the non-controlling interest has been adjusted to reflect tax and other cash distributions made to, and the income allocated to, the non-controlling unitholders. The ownership of the common units in RMCO is summarized as follows:

	September 30 2015	,		December 31, 2014	ı	
		Ownership			Ownership	
	Shares	%		Shares	%	
Non-controlling unitholders ownership of common						
units in RMCO	17,734,600	58.97	%	17,734,600	60.11	%
RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. outstanding Class A						
common stock (equal to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.						
common units in RMCO)	12,339,639	41.03	%	11,768,041	39.89	%
Total common units in RMCO	30,074,239	100.00	%	29,502,641	100.00	%

The aforementioned ownership percentages are used to calculate the net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings. A reconciliation from "Income before provision for income taxes" to "Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc." in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the periods indicated is detailed as follows

(in thousands, except percentages):

	Three Mont September 3		Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
Income before provision for income taxes	\$ 18,470	\$ 17,171	\$ 49,263	\$ 44,492	
Weighted average ownership percentage of controlling					
interest	41.02 %	39.50 %	40.61 %	39.53 %	
Income before provision for income taxes attributable to					
RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	7,576	6,783	20,006	17,588	
Provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,					
Inc.	(2,779)	(2,508)	(7,532)	(6,525)	
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	\$ 4,797	\$ 4,275	\$ 12,474	\$ 11,063	

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

A reconciliation of the "Provision for income taxes" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the periods indicated is detailed as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.				
(a)	\$ (2,779)	\$ (2,508)	\$ (7,532)	\$ (6,525)
Provision for income taxes attributable to entities other than				
RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. (b)	(498)	(608)	(1,350)	(1,605)
Provision for income taxes	\$ (3,277)	\$ (3,116)	\$ (8,882)	\$ (8,130)

- (a) The provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings includes all U.S. federal and state income taxes as well as RE/MAX Holdings' approximate 40% share of the taxes imposed directly on RE/MAX, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of RMCO, related to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions of \$346,000 and \$395,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and \$924,000 and \$1,049,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
- (b) The provision for income taxes attributable to entities other than RE/MAX Holdings represents taxes imposed directly on RE/MAX, LLC related to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions that are allocated to the non-controlling interest.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Distributions and Other Payments to Non-controlling Unitholders

Distributions for Taxes

As a limited liability company (treated as a partnership for income tax purposes), RMCO does not incur significant federal, state or local income taxes, as these taxes are primarily the obligations of its members. As authorized by the Fourth Amended and Restated RMCO Limited Liability Company Agreement (the "RMCO, LLC Agreement"), RMCO is generally required to distribute cash on a pro rata basis to its members to the extent necessary to cover each member's estimated tax liabilities, if any, with respect to their allocable share of RMCO earnings, but only to the extent that any other discretionary distributions from RMCO for the relevant period were otherwise insufficient to enable each member to cover its estimated tax liabilities. RMCO makes such tax distributions to its members based on an estimated tax rate stipulated in the RMCO, LLC Agreement. During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the amount of other discretionary distributions RMCO made to non-controlling unitholders was sufficient to cover such member's estimated tax liabilities. Distributions for taxes paid to or on behalf of non-controlling unitholders under the RMCO, LLC Agreement were \$15,557,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2014, and are recorded in "Non-controlling interest" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity and reported in "Distributions paid to non-controlling unitholders" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Upon completion of its tax returns with respect to the prior year, RMCO may make other discretionary true-up distributions to its members, if cash is available for such purposes, with respect to actual taxable income for the prior year.

Other Discretionary Distributions

Discretionary cash distributions may also be made to non-controlling unitholders based on their ownership percentage in RMCO as determined in accordance with the RMCO, LLC Agreement. The Company expects that future cash distributions will be made to non-controlling unitholders pro rata on a quarterly basis equal to the anticipated dividend payments to the stockholders of the Company's Class A common stock, or otherwise on a discretionary basis as determined to be necessary or appropriate by the Company. The Company made other distributions to non-controlling unitholders of \$38,813,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2015, which is recorded in "Non-controlling interest" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity and reported in "Distributions paid to non-controlling unitholders" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Of this amount, \$33,253,000 related to dividend distributions as discussed in Note 4, Earnings Per Share and Dividends, and \$5,560,000 was a discretionary distribution paid in connection with the terms of the RMCO, LLC Agreement. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company made other distributions to non-controlling unitholders of \$3,325,000.

On November 4, 2015, the Company declared a distribution to non-controlling unitholders of \$2,217,000, which is payable on November 27, 2015. No other distributions were paid to non-controlling unitholders during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Payments Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreements

At the time of the IPO, RE/MAX Holdings entered into separate TRAs with RMCO's historical owners, RIHI and Weston Presidio V., L.P. ("Weston Presidio"). During the second quarter of 2015, Weston Presidio assigned, transferred and conveyed to Oberndorf Investments LLC ("Oberndorf") all of its rights, title and interest in and to, and all of its liabilities and obligations under, the TRA dated as of October 7, 2013 by and between RE/MAX Holdings and Weston Presidio. In connection therewith, the Company entered into a joinder to the TRA on May 29, 2015 with Western Presidio and Oberndorf (the "Joinder Agreement"). Neither the assignment and transfer nor the Joinder Agreement impacted the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

As of September 30, 2015, the Company reflected a liability of \$67,418,000, representing the payments due to RIHI and Oberndorf, under the terms of the TRAs (see current and non-current portion of "Payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets).

As of September 30, 2015, the Company estimates that amounts payable pursuant to the TRAs within the next 12 month period will be approximately \$3,914,000. To determine the current amount of the payments due to RIHI and Oberndorf, the Company estimated the amount of taxable income that RE/MAX Holdings generated during 2014 and the amount of the specified deductions subject to the TRAs which were realized by RE/MAX Holdings in its 2014 federal and state tax returns. This amount was then used as a basis for determining the Company's increase in estimated tax cash savings as a result of such deductions on which a current TRA obligation became due (i.e. payable within 12 months of the Company's year-end). These calculations are performed pursuant to the terms of the TRAs. No amounts were paid pursuant to the terms of the TRAs during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 or 2014.

The timing and amount of the payments to be made under the TRAs are subject to certain contingencies, including RE/MAX Holdings having sufficient taxable income to utilize all of the tax benefits defined in the TRAs. If the Company elects to terminate the TRAs early, the Company would be required to make an immediate cash payment equal to the present value of the anticipated future tax benefits that are the subject of the TRAs, which payment may be made significantly in advance of the actual realization, if any, of such future tax benefits.

Obligations pursuant to the TRAs are obligations of RE/MAX Holdings. They do not impact the non-controlling interest. These obligations are not income tax obligations and have no impact on the "Provision for income taxes" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. In general, items of income, gain, loss and deduction are allocated on the basis of the members' ownership interests pursuant to the RMCO, LLC Agreement after taking into consideration all relevant sections of the Internal Revenue Code.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

4. Earnings Per Share and Dividends

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period. Diluted EPS measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period while giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares that were outstanding during the period. The treasury stock method is used to determine the dilutive potential of stock options and restricted stock units.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations (in thousands, except share and per share information):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Numerator				
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,				
Inc.	\$ 4,797	\$ 4,275	\$ 12,474	\$ 11,063
Denominator for basic net income per share of				
Class A common stock				
Weighted average shares of Class A common				
stock outstanding	12,333,690	11,579,669	12,127,548	11,593,738
Denominator for diluted net income per share				
of Class A common stock				
Weighted average shares of Class A common				
stock outstanding	12,333,690	11,579,669	12,127,548	11,593,738
Add dilutive effect of the following:				
Stock options	51,171	590,285	163,777	590,736
Restricted stock units	35,887	59,056	24,338	50,686
Weighted average shares of Class A common				
stock outstanding, diluted	12,420,748	12,229,010	12,315,663	12,235,160
Earnings per share of Class A common stock				
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,				
Inc. per share of Class A common stock, basic	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.37	\$ 1.03	\$ 0.95
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.35	\$ 1.01	\$ 0.90
Inc. per share of Class A common stock,				

diluted

The one share of Class B common stock outstanding does not share in the earnings of RE/MAX Holdings and is therefore not a participating security. Accordingly, basic and diluted net income per share of Class B common stock has not been presented.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Dividends

The Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends of \$0.125 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock in the first, second and third quarters of 2015, or \$4,571,000 in total dividends. Of this amount, \$1,500,000 was paid on April 8, 2015, \$1,529,000 was paid on June 4, 2015 and \$1,542,000 was paid on September 3, 2015. The Company made corresponding distributions to non-controlling unitholders of \$2,217,000 on each of April 8, 2015, June 4, 2015 and September 3, 2015. Additionally, during the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors declared a special dividend of \$1.50 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock, or \$17,883,000 in total dividends, which along with a corresponding distribution to non-controlling unitholders of \$26,602,000, was paid on April 8, 2015. The Company's Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends of \$0.0625 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock in the first, second and third quarters of 2014, or \$2,173,000 in total dividends. Of this amount, \$725,000 was paid on April 18, 2014 and \$724,000 was paid on each of June 5, 2014 and September 3, 2014. The Company made corresponding distributions to non-controlling unitholders of \$1,108,000 on each of April 18, 2014, June 5, 2014 and September 3, 2014.

On November 4, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.125 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock, which is payable on November 27, 2015 to shareholders of record at the close of business on November 13, 2015.

5. Dispositions

Disposition of RE/MAX Caribbean Islands, Inc.

On December 31, 2014, the Company sold substantially all of the assets of its owned and operated regional franchising operations located in the Caribbean and Central America for a net sales price of approximately \$100,000. In connection with the sale of the assets, the Company entered into separate regional franchise agreements effective January 1, 2015 with a term of 20 years with the purchasers, under which the Company will receive ongoing monthly continuing franchise fees, broker fees and franchise sales revenue.

Disposition of RB2B, LLC d/b/a RE/MAX 100

On April 10, 2015, the Company sold certain operating assets and liabilities related to six owned brokerage offices located in the U.S., of RB2B, LLC d/b/a RE/MAX 100 ("RE/MAX 100"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for a sales price of \$450,000. The Company recognized a gain on the sale of the assets and the liabilities transferred of \$615,000 during the second quarter of 2015, which is reflected in "Gain on sale or disposition of assets, net" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. In connection with this sale, the Company transferred separate office franchise agreements to the purchaser, under which the Company will receive ongoing monthly continuing franchise fees, broker fees and franchise sales revenue. The financial position and results of operations of RE/MAX 100 were entirely attributable to the Company's Brokerages reportable segment.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following table provides the components of the Company's intangible assets, other than goodwill (in thousands):

	Initial Weighted	September 30, 2015			December 31, 2014		
	Average	Initial	Accumulated		Initial	Accumulated	
	Amortization	Cost	Amortization	Balance	Cost	Amortization	Balance
Franchise agreements	12.0	\$ 162,761	\$ (97,430)	\$ 65,331	\$ 162,835	\$ (87,330)	\$ 75,505
Other intangible assets:							
Software (a)	4.5	\$ 10,125	\$ (7,309)	\$ 2,816	\$ 8,356	\$ (7,126)	\$ 1,230
Trademarks Total other intangible	14.6	2,975	(1,558)	1,417	2,919	(1,424)	1,495
assets	6.7	\$ 13,100	\$ (8,867)	\$ 4,233	\$ 11,275	\$ (8,550)	\$ 2,725

⁽a) As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, capitalized software development costs of \$2,392,000 and \$857,000, respectively, were recorded in "Other intangible assets" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of these dates, the associated information technology infrastructure projects were not complete and ready for their intended use and thus were not subject to amortization.

Amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 was \$3,510,000 and \$3,518,000, respectively. Amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 was \$10,608,000 and \$10,656,000, respectively.

The estimated future amortization of intangible assets, other than goodwill, is as follows (in thousands):

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Year ending December 31:	
Remainder of 2015	\$ 3,473
2016	14,276
2017	10,438
2018	6,821
2019	6,811
Thereafter	27,745
	\$ 69,564

The Company performs its annual impairment analysis of goodwill as of August 31 each year or more often if there are indicators of impairment present. The Company tests each reporting unit for goodwill impairment. Reporting units are driven by the level at which management reviews operating results and are one level below the operating segment. The Company's impairment assessment begins with a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than the carrying amount. The initial qualitative assessment includes comparing the overall financial performance of the reporting units against the planned results as well as other factors which might indicate that the reporting unit's value has declined since the last assessment date. If it is determined in the qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then the standard two-step quantitative impairment test is performed. The first step of the quantitative impairment test consists of comparing the estimated fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then it is not considered impaired and no further analysis is required. If the first step of the quantitative impairment test indicates that the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then impairment potentially exists and the second step of the quantitative impairment test is performed to measure the amount of goodwill impairment. Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated implied fair value of a reporting unit's goodwill is less than its carrying value.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The Company performed the qualitative impairment assessment for all of its reporting units by evaluating, among other things, market and general economic conditions, entity-specific events, events affecting a reporting unit and the Company's results of operations and key performance measures. The Company concluded subsequent to the completion of the qualitative impairment assessment that the fair value of each of the Company's reporting units significantly exceed their respective carrying values. As a result, the Company did not perform the quantitative test, and no indicators of impairment existed.

Amounts recorded as goodwill in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets are attributable to the Company's Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment. The following table presents changes to goodwill for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 (in thousands):

Balance, January 1, 2015	\$ 72,463
Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates	(487)
Balance, September 30, 2015	\$ 71,976

7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

	September 30,	December 31,	
	2015	2014	
Accrued payroll and related employee costs	\$ 7,018	\$ 4,519	
Accrued property taxes	1,205	1,622	
Accrued professional fees	654	947	
Lease-related accruals	493	773	
Other	1,395	1,519	

\$ 10,765 \$ 9,380

8. Debt

Debt consists of the following (in thousands):

	September 30, 2015	December 31, 2014
2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility, principal of \$520 payable quarterly,		
matures in July 2020, net of unamortized discount of \$789 and \$360 as of		
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively	\$ 202,365	\$ 211,673
Less current portion	(13,362)	(9,460)
•	\$ 189,003	\$ 202,213

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Maturities of debt are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31	•
Remainder of 2015	\$ 520
2016	2,080
2017	2,080
2018	2,080
2019	2,080
Thereafter	194,314
	\$ 203,154

On July 31, 2013, the Company entered into a new credit agreement with several lenders and administered by a bank, referred to herein as the "2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility." The 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility consists of a \$230,000,000 term loan facility and a \$10,000,000 revolving loan facility. The proceeds provided by the term loan facility were used to refinance and repay existing indebtedness and for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes.

On March 11, 2015, the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility was amended, providing for an increase to the maximum applicable margin for both London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") and Alternate Base Rate ("ABR") loans by 0.25%, and a modification of certain liquidity covenants in order to increase the amounts the Company may distribute in the form of dividends to its non-controlling unitholders and stockholders of its Class A common stock, referred to herein as the "First Amendment." Interest rates with respect to the amended term loan facility and revolving loan facility are based, at the Company's option, on (a) adjusted LIBOR, provided that LIBOR shall be no less than 1% plus a maximum applicable margin of 3.25% or (b) ABR, provided that ABR shall be no less than 2%, which is equal to the greater of (1) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.'s prime rate; (2) the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5% or (3) calculated Eurodollar Rate for a one month interest period plus 1%, plus a maximum applicable margin of 2.25%. The applicable margin is subject to quarterly adjustments based on the Company's total leverage ratio as defined in the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility. In connection with the First Amendment, the Company incurred costs of \$1,086,000, of which \$555,000 was recorded as an unamortized debt discount and are being amortized over the remaining term of the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility and the remaining \$531,000 was expensed as incurred.

The Company is required to make principal payments out of excess cash flow, as defined in the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility, as well as from the proceeds of certain asset sales, proceeds from the issuance of indebtedness and from insurance recoveries. The Company made an excess cash flow prepayment of \$7,320,000 on March 26, 2015. As of September 30, 2015, mandatory principal payments of approximately \$520,000 are due quarterly until the facility

matures on July 31, 2020 and will be reduced pro rata by the amount of any excess cash flow principal prepayments made. During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company made an excess cash flow prepayment of \$14,627,000. The Company accounted for the mandatory principal excess cash flow prepayments as early extinguishments of debt and recorded a loss of \$94,000 and \$178,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to unamortized debt discount and issuance costs. The Company may make optional prepayments on the term loan facility at any time; however, no such optional prepayments were made during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 or 2014.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The estimated fair value of the Company's debt as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 represents the amount that would be paid to transfer or redeem the debt in an orderly transaction between market participants at those dates and maximizes the use of observable inputs. The fair value of the Company's debt was estimated using a market approach based on the amount at the measurement date that the Company would pay to enter into the identical liability, since quoted prices for the Company's debt instruments are not available. As a result, the Company has classified the fair value of the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The carrying amounts of the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility are included in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets in "Current portion of debt" and "Debt, net of current portion." The following table summarizes the carrying value and fair value of the 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2015		December 31, 2014	
	Carrying amounts	Estimated fair value	Carrying amounts	Estimated fair value
2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility	\$ 202,365	\$ 203,663	\$ 211,673	\$ 208,853

The Company had no borrowings drawn on the revolving loan facility during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 or 2014 and had \$10,000,000 available under the revolving loan facility as of September 30, 2015. The Company must pay a quarterly commitment fee equal to 0.5% on the average daily amount of the unused portion of the revolving loan facility.

9. Income Taxes

RE/MAX Holdings is subject to U.S. federal and state income taxation on its allocable portion of the income of RMCO. The "Provision for income taxes" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is based on an estimate of the Company's annualized effective income tax rate. The Company's effective tax rate includes a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the Company's subsidiaries operate as a series of limited liability companies which are not themselves subject to federal income tax. Accordingly, the portion of the Company's subsidiaries earnings attributable to the non-controlling interest are subject to tax when reported as a component of the non-controlling interests' taxable income. The "Provision for income taxes" is comprised of a provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings and to entities other than RE/MAX Holdings. The provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings includes all U.S. federal and

state income taxes and RE/MAX Holdings' approximate 40% share of taxes imposed directly on RE/MAX, LLC related to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions. The provision for income taxes attributable to entities other than RE/MAX Holdings represents taxes imposed directly on RE/MAX, LLC related to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions that are allocated to the non-controlling interest.

The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. As of September 30, 2015, the Company does not believe it has any significant uncertain tax positions.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

10. Equity-Based Compensation

On September 30, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2013 Incentive Plan") that provides for the grant of incentive stock options to the Company's employees, and for the grant of shares of RE/MAX Holdings' Class A common stock, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalent rights, cash-based awards and any combination thereof to employees, directors and consultants of the Company.

On June 24, 2015, RE/MAX Holdings granted 2,941 shares of RE/MAX Holdings' Class A common stock to an employee at a grant-date fair value of \$34.01. Of this amount, 940 shares were withheld and cancelled with an estimated value of \$32,000 to cover the Company's minimum statutory tax withholding obligation. On March 11, 2015, RE/MAX Holdings granted an aggregate of 74,893 restricted stock units at a value of \$32.45 per unit to certain employees, which vest over a three-year period beginning on April 1, 2016, and an aggregate of 10,787 restricted stock units at a value of \$32.45 per unit to its directors, excluding David Liniger, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Co-Founder, and Gail Liniger, the Company's Vice Chair and Co-Founder, which vest on April 1, 2016. The grant-date fair value of \$32.45 per unit equaled the closing price of RE/MAX Holdings' Class A common stock on March 11, 2015.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company recognized equity-based compensation expense of \$430,000 and \$1,098,000, respectively, in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income resulting from the shares of RE/MAX Holdings' Class A common stock granted on June 24, 2015 and restricted stock units that were granted on March 11, 2015 and October 7, 2013. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Company recognized equity-based compensation expense of \$200,000 and \$532,000, respectively, in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income resulting from restricted stock units that were granted on October 7, 2013.

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The following table summarizes equity-based compensation activity related to restricted stock units and stock options as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Dalamaa January 1 2015	Restricted Stock Units	Stock Options
Balance, January 1, 2015 Granted	40,472 85,680	652,500
Exercised (a)	63,060 —	(564,443)
Forfeited	(6,588)	_
Delivered and exchanged for shares of Class A common stock (b)	(5,154)	_
Cancelled (c)	(2,422)	_
Balance, September 30, 2015	111,988	88,057
As of September 30, 2015		
Vested	_	88,057
Unvested	111,988	_

- (a) Cash received from stock option exercises for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was \$2,032,000. The Company recorded a corporate income tax benefit relating to the options exercised and restricted stock units delivered during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 of \$2,411,000 in "Additional paid-in capital" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity.
- (b) In connection with a retirement agreement entered into with the Company's former President as described in Note 11, Leadership Changes and Restructuring Activities, 7,576 unvested restricted stock units granted in October 2013 vested in August 2015 on an accelerated timeline. As such, incremental equity-based compensation expense of \$109,000 and \$216,000 was recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.
- (c) Of the 7,576 restricted stock units vested during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, 2,422 shares were withheld and cancelled with an estimated value of \$88,000 to cover the Company's minimum statutory tax withholding obligation.

At September 30, 2015, there were 1,930,704 additional shares available for the Company to grant under the 2013 Incentive Plan.

11. Leadership Changes and Restructuring Activities

The Company's former Chief Executive Officer retired on December 31, 2014 and pursuant to the terms of the Separation and Release of Claims Agreement (the "Separation Agreement"), the Company is required to provide severance and other related benefits over a 36 month period, beginning on December 31, 2014. The Company recorded a liability, measured at its estimated fair value, for payments that will be made under the Separation Agreement, with a corresponding charge of \$3,545,000 in 2014. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the short-term portion of the liability was \$829,000 and \$500,000, respectively, and is included in "Accrued liabilities" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the long-term portion of the liability was \$980,000 and \$1,488,000, respectively, and is included in "Other liabilities, net of current portion" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

In addition, on May 4, 2015, the Company's former President entered into a retirement agreement with the Company (the "Retirement Agreement") pursuant to which he retired on August 19, 2015. Subject to the terms of the Retirement Agreement, the Company is required to provide retirement benefits over a 24 month period, beginning on September 1, 2015. The Company recorded a liability, measured at its estimated fair value, for payments that will be made under the Retirement Agreement, with a corresponding charge to "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company incurred a total cost of \$877,000, including \$216,000 of equity-based compensation expense, during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. Of the total cost incurred, \$443,000 was recorded during the three months ended September 30, 2015. As of September 30, 2015, the short-term portion of the liability was \$248,000 and is included in "Accrued liabilities" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and the long-term portion of the liability was \$237,000 and is included in "Other liabilities, net of current portion" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company's total severance and other related expenses were \$503,000 and \$1,542,000 during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, which is included in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

In addition, management of the Company approved and implemented a restructuring plan during the fourth quarter of 2014 designed to improve operating efficiencies, which reduced the Company's overall headcount at its corporate headquarters (the "Restructuring Plan"). In connection with the Restructuring Plan, the Company incurred \$1,303,000 of expenses in 2014 related to severance and outplacement services provided to certain former employees of the Company.

The following table presents a rollforward of the estimated fair value liability established for the aforementioned severance and other related costs, which are entirely attributable to the Company's Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, from January 1, 2015 to September 30, 2015 (in thousands):

Balance, January 1, 2015	\$ 2,408
Additional severance and other related expenses	1,542
Accretion	61
Cash payments	(1,337)
Non-cash adjustment (a)	(216)
Balance, September 30, 2015	\$ 2,458

⁽a) Non-cash adjustment represents the non-cash equity-based compensation expense recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 for the accelerated vesting of certain restricted stock units in August 2015 pursuant to the

terms of the Retirement Agreement. See also Note 10, Equity-Based Compensation.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

The Company leases offices and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases, subject to certain provisions for renewal options and escalation clauses.

Contingencies

In connection with the sale of RE/MAX 100 on April 10, 2015 as described in Note 5, Dispositions, the Company entered into an Assignment and Assumption of Leases Agreement (the "Assignment Agreement") pursuant to which the Company assigned its obligations under and rights, title and interest in six leases to the purchaser. For certain leases, the Company remains secondarily liable for future lease payments over approximately the next 31 month period under the respective lease agreements and accordingly, as of September 30, 2015, the Company has outstanding lease guarantees of \$1,272,000. This amount represents the present value of the maximum potential liability of future payments under the respective lease guarantees. In the event of default by the purchaser, the indemnity and default clauses in the Assignment Agreement govern the Company's ability to pursue and recover damages incurred, if any, against the purchaser. As of September 30, 2015, the likelihood of default by the purchaser on the Assignment Agreement was deemed to be less than probable and as such, the Company did not record a liability in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets nor a related charge in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Litigation

The Company is subject to litigation claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for legal matters as appropriate. The Company records litigation accruals for legal matters which are both probable and estimable and for related legal costs as incurred. The Company does not reduce these liabilities for potential insurance or third-party recoveries and any insurance recoveries are recorded in "Accounts and notes receivable, current portion" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets with a corresponding reduction to "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

In connection with the Company's acquisition of the net assets of HBN on October 7, 2013, several shareholders of HBN dissented from the transaction alleging the Company purchased the net assets of HBN below fair value and demanded payment for their shares in excess of consideration paid. Pursuant to the dissenters' rights statute in the State of Colorado, on February 11, 2014, HBN petitioned the District Court of Denver County, Colorado (the "Court") to determine the fair value of HBN. A trial occurred between April 14, 2015 and April 17, 2015. HBN vigorously defended its position that the consideration paid for the net assets of HBN materially approximated fair value. To date, the Court has not rendered a decision. However, based upon the results of trial testimonies, plaintiff's and defendants' expert valuation reports prepared in connection with the case, and the contents of post-trial briefs that have been delivered, the Company determined that the potential impact to the Company's financial position and results of

operations could range from \$115,000 to approximately \$2,656,000. Since no amount within the range of potential impact is a better estimate than any other amount, the Company recorded an accrual and corresponding charge of \$89,000 in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 in addition to the previously recorded amount of \$26,000, which was based on pre-trial estimates.

Except for the ongoing litigation concerning the acquisition of the net assets of HBN, management of the Company believes other such litigation matters involving a reasonably possible chance of loss will not, individually or in the aggregate, result in a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

13. Guarantees

In May 2015, the Company entered into a guarantee of the full and prompt payment and performance when due of all obligations due to a financial institution under a commercial line-of-credit agreement and note entered into by the Company's equity-method investee, a residential mortgage operation in which the Company has a 50% interest. The term of the line-of-credit agreement is 13 months and the total amount of advances requested and unpaid principal balance cannot exceed \$15,000,000. The line of credit bears interest at the financial institution's base rate. The Company had entered into a similar guarantee during May 2014, which expired as of May 2015. The outstanding balance on the line of credit was approximately \$9,502,000 and \$4,548,000 as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The Company did not incur any payments under this guarantee during the nine months ended September 30, 2015, or in any prior periods, and does not anticipate that it will incur any payments through the duration of the guarantee.

14. Related-Party Transactions

The Company's real estate brokerage operations pay advertising fees to regional and national advertising funds, which promote the RE/MAX brand. These advertising funds are corporations owned by a majority stockholder of RIHI, who is also the Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Co-Founder, as trustee for RE/MAX agents. This individual does not receive any compensation from these corporations, as all funds received by the corporations are required to be spent on advertising for the respective regions. During the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company's real estate brokerage operations paid \$210,000 and \$291,000, respectively, to these advertising funds. During the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company's real estate brokerage operations paid \$705,000 and \$862,000, respectively, to these advertising funds. These payments are included in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

Prior to October 7, 2013, RE/MAX 100 paid regional continuing franchise fees, broker fees and franchise sales revenue, as do all other RE/MAX franchisees in the Central Atlantic region, to Tails. Several of the Company's officers and stockholders of RIHI were also stockholders and officers of Tails, and as such, prior to October 7, 2013, Tails was a related party to the Company. As described in Note 1, Business and Organization, a portion of the proceeds raised during the IPO was used to purchase certain assets of Tails. In addition, RE/MAX 100 recorded a payable to Tails' affiliated regional advertising fund. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the amount of the payable was \$1,102,000 and \$1,031,000, respectively, and is included in "Accounts payable to affiliates" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The majority stockholders of RIHI, including the Company's current Chief Executive Officer, have made and continue to make a golf course they own available to the Company for business purposes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the Company used the golf course for business purposes at no charge.

The Company also provides services to certain affiliated entities, such as accounting, legal, marketing, technology, human resources and public relations services, and it allows these companies to share its leased office space. During the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the total amounts allocated for services rendered and rent for office space provided on behalf of affiliated entities were \$446,000 and \$549,000, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the total amounts allocated for services rendered and rent for office space provided on behalf of affiliated entities were \$1,293,000 and \$1,661,000, respectively. Such amounts are generally paid within 30 days and no such amounts were outstanding at September 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The components of the Company's "Accounts receivable from affiliates" and "Accounts payable to affiliates" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets consists of the following (in thousands):

	September 30, 2015		ecember 31,
Accounts receivable from affiliates:			
RE/MAX of Texas Advertising Fund	\$	16	\$ 246
Other		10	(15)
Total accounts receivable from affiliates		26	231
Accounts payable to affiliates:			
Central Atlantic Region Advertising Fund		(1,102)	(1,031)
Other		(70)	(83)
Total accounts payable to affiliates		(1,172)	(1,114)
Net accounts payable to affiliates	\$	(1,146)	\$ (883)

15. Segment Information

The Company has two reportable segments: Real Estate Franchise Services and Brokerages. Management evaluates the operating results of its reportable segments based upon revenue and adjusted earnings before interest, the provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization and other non-cash and non-recurring cash charges or other items ("Adjusted EBITDA"). The Company's presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

Adjusted EBITDA for the reportable segments excludes depreciation, amortization, interest expense, interest income and the provision for income taxes and is then adjusted for other non-cash and non-recurring cash charges or other items. Adjusted EBITDA for the reportable segments is also a key factor that is used by the Company's internal decision makers to (i) determine how to allocate resources to segments and (ii) evaluate the effectiveness of management for purposes of annual and other incentive compensation plans. The additional items that are adjusted to determine Adjusted EBITDA for the reportable segments include loss or gain on the sale or disposition of assets and sublease, loss on early extinguishment of debt, non-cash straight-line rent expense, non-recurring severance and other related expenses and acquisition integration and professional fees expense. The Company's Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment comprises the operations of the Company's owned and independent global franchising

operations under the RE/MAX brand name, intersegment revenue from the Company's owned brokerages and the Company's corporate-wide professional services expenses. All of the Company's brokerage offices in its Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment are franchised. The Company's Brokerages reportable segment includes the Company's brokerage services business, intersegment expenses and reflects the elimination of all intersegment revenue and expenses and other consolidation entries.

Table of Contents

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The following tables present the revenue and Adjusted EBITDA results of the Company's reportable segments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

	Revenue (a	a)		
	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended	
	September 30,		September 30,	
	2015	2014	2015	2014
	(in thousan	nds)		
Real Estate Franchise Services	\$ 42,221	\$ 40,456	\$ 124,197	\$ 118,254
Brokerages	2,889	3,784	9,397	10,165
Consolidated revenue	\$ 45,110	\$ 44,240	\$ 133,594	\$ 128,419

⁽a) Transactions between the Real Estate Franchise Services and the Brokerages reportable segments are eliminated in consolidation. Revenues for the Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment include intersegment amounts paid from the Company's brokerage services business of \$361,000 and \$485,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and \$1,154,000 and \$1,369,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Such amounts are eliminated in the Brokerages reportable segment.

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Unaudited)

	Adjusted E Three Mon September 2015 (in thousan	ths Ended 30, 2014	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014	
Real Estate Franchise Services: Net income Depreciation and amortization Interest expense Interest income Provision for income taxes EBITDA Gain on sale or disposition of assets and sublease Loss on early extinguishment of debt Non-cash straight-line rent expense Non-recurring severance and other related expenses Acquisition integration and professional fees expense Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 14,682	\$ 13,459	\$ 38,576	\$ 36,017
	3,694	3,695	11,159	11,305
	2,328	2,252	7,413	6,997
	(36)	(58)	(136)	(205)
	3,182	3,014	8,553	8,070
	23,850	22,362	65,565	62,184
	(88)	(87)	(259)	(369)
	—	—	94	178
	224	271	736	773
	443	—	1,482	—
	—	87	77	150
	\$ 24,429	\$ 22,633	\$ 67,695	\$ 62,916
Brokerages: Net income Depreciation and amortization Interest expense Interest income Provision for income taxes EBITDA Loss (gain) on sale or disposition of assets and sublease Non-cash straight-line rent expense Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 511	\$ 596	\$ 1,805	\$ 345
	71	72	225	212
	10	3	35	10
	—	—	—	—
	95	102	329	60
	687	773	2,394	627
	22	35	(514)	92
	(23)	(74)	(55)	(159)
	\$ 686	\$ 734	\$ 1,825	\$ 560
Consolidated: Net income Depreciation and amortization Interest expense Interest income Provision for income taxes EBITDA Gain on sale or disposition of assets and sublease Loss on early extinguishment of debt Non-cash straight-line rent expense	\$ 15,193 3,765 2,338 (36) 3,277 24,537 (66) —	\$ 14,055 3,767 2,255 (58) 3,116 23,135 (52) — 197	\$ 40,381 11,384 7,448 (136) 8,882 67,959 (773) 94 681	\$ 36,362 11,517 7,007 (205) 8,130 62,811 (277) 178 614

Non-recurring severance and other related expenses	443		1,482	
Acquisition integration and professional fees expense	_	87	77	150
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 25,115	\$ 23,367	\$ 69,520	\$ 63,476

Item 2.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of our operations should be read together with the condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. These statements are often identified by the use of words such as "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "could," "estimate," "exp "intend," "may," "plan," "project," "will," "would" or the negative or plural of these words or similar expressions or variations example, forward-looking statements include statements we make relating to:

- · our expectations regarding consumer trends in residential real estate transactions;
- our expectations regarding overall economic and demographic trends, including the continued growth of the United States ("U.S.") residential real estate market;
- · our expectations regarding our performance during future downturns in the housing sector;
- · our growth strategy of increasing our agent count;
- · our ability to expand our network of franchises in both new and existing but underpenetrated markets;
- · our expectations regarding agent count and productivity;
- · our growth strategy of increasing our number of closed transaction sides and transaction sides per agent;
- · the continued strength of our brand both in the U.S. and Canada and in the rest of the world;
- · the pursuit of future reacquisitions of Independent Regions;
- · our intention to pay dividends;
- · our future financial performance;
- · our ability to forecast selling, operating and administrative expenses;
- · the effects of laws applying to our business;
- · our ability to retain our senior management and other key employees;
- · our intention to pursue additional intellectual property protections;
- · our future compliance with U.S. or state franchise regulations;
- · other plans and objectives for future operations, growth, initiatives, acquisitions or strategies, including investments in our information technology infrastructure;
- · the anticipated benefits of our advertising strategy;
- · our intention to repatriate cash generated by our Canadian operations to the U.S. on a regular basis in order to minimize the impact of mark-to-market gains and losses experienced in recent quarters; and
- · our expectation that our new cloud-based enterprise resource planning system will enhance our internal controls over financial reporting and function as an important component of our disclosure controls and procedures.

Table of Contents

Such forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors," set forth in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

The results of operations discussed in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations are those of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, including RMCO, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries ("RMCO"), collectively, the "Company," "we," "our" or "us."

Business Overview

We are one of the world's leading franchisors of real estate brokerage services. Our business strategy is to recruit and retain agents and sell franchises. Our franchisees operate under the RE/MAX brand name which has held the number one market share in the U.S. and Canada since 1999 as measured by total residential transaction sides completed by our agents.

Our financial results are driven by the number of agents in our global network. The majority of our revenue is derived from fixed, contractual fees and dues paid to us based on the number of agents in our franchise network.

Our current growth strategies include the following initiatives:

- · Increase our total agent count.
 - Continue to drive franchise sales growth and agent recruitment and retention.
- · Reacquire select RE/MAX regional franchises in the U.S. and Canada.

As a franchisor (less than 1% of the brokerages in the U.S. RE/MAX system are owned by us), we maintain a low fixed-cost structure which enables us to generate high margins and helps us drive significant operating leverage through incremental revenue growth as reflected in our financial results.

We operate in two reportable segments, (1) Real Estate Franchise Services and (2) Brokerages. The Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment comprises the operations of our owned and independent global franchising operations, reflects intersegment revenue from our owned brokerages and includes our corporate-wide professional services expenses. The Brokerages reportable segment contains the operations of our owned brokerage offices in the U.S., which represent less than 1% of RE/MAX brokerages in the U.S., the results of operations of a mortgage brokerage company in which we own a non-controlling interest, intersegment expenses and reflects the elimination of all intersegment revenue and expenses and other consolidation entities. Our reportable segments represent our operating segments for which separate financial information is available and which is utilized on a regular basis by our management to assess performance and to allocate resources.

Table of Contents

Marketing and Promotion

Nearly all of the advertising, marketing and promotion to support the RE/MAX brand is funded by our agents and franchisees. In the U.S. and Canada, there are two primary levels of advertising and promotion of our brand based on the source of funding for the activity: (i) regional advertising funds build and maintain brand awareness and drive real estate consumers to use RE/MAX agents through regional activities and media buys, including placement of RE/MAX's advertising on a regional or pan-regional basis, and (ii) local campaigns that are paid for directly by agents and franchisees within their local markets. The regional advertising funds are funded by our agents through fees that our brokers collect and pay to the regional advertising funds.

Through 2014, a portion of agents' contributions to regional advertising funds in Company-owned and Independent Regions were remitted to a national advertising fund that centralized some national expenditures. During the third quarter of 2014, our regional franchise owners adopted a change in the marketing strategy for the regional and national advertising funds. Beginning in January 2015, the national advertising fund was discontinued and the RE/MAX advertising strategy now focuses on targeted regional and local marketing. The amount of fees paid by each agent has not changed, but advertising dollars traditionally remitted to the national advertising fund and used for national television campaigns prospectively will be retained and managed by the regional advertising funds for use in regional programs, presenting valuable marketing opportunities at the regional and local level. Notwithstanding the discontinuance of the national advertising fund, on occasion, the advertising funds in Company-owned Regions, together with some or all of the advertising funds in Independent Regions, may contribute to national or pan-regional creative development and media purchases. The majority of this transition has been completed as of September 30, 2015. We are currently evaluating the impact that this change in advertising strategy may have on our future results of operations, if any.

How We Assess the Performance of Our Business

In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of financial and operating measures that affect our operating results, including agent count, revenue and Adjusted EBITDA.

Agent Count. Agent count reflects the number of licensed agents who have active, independent contractual relationships with RE/MAX offices at a particular time. The majority of our revenue is derived from recurring fixed fee streams we receive from our franchisees and agents that are tied to our aggregate agent count.

The following table shows our agent count at the end of the periods indicated:

	As of							
	September 30, 2015	June 30, 2015	March 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	September 30, 2014	June 30, 2014	March 31, 2014	December 31, 2013
Agent Count:								1
U.S.								1
Company-owned								ļ
regions	37,146	36,545	35,845	35,299	35,377	34,686	33,911	33,416
Independent								!
regions	22,633	22,459	22,100	21,806	21,804	21,576	21,375	21,075
U.S. Total	59,779	59,004	57,945	57,105	57,181	56,262	55,286	54,491
Canada								
Company-owned								!
regions	6,512	6,440	6,327	6,261	6,258	6,212	6,117	6,084
Independent								1
regions	12,994	12,992	12,834	12,779	12,849	12,818	12,852	12,838
Canada Total	19,506	19,432	19,161	19,040	19,107	19,030	18,969	18,922
Outside U.S. and								
Canada								
Company-owned								
regions (1)	_	_	_	328	312	301	323	338
Independent								
regions (1)	24,206	23,467	22,849	21,537	21,047	20,496	19,807	19,477
Outside U.S. and								
Canada Total	24,206	23,467	22,849	21,865	21,359	20,797	20,130	19,815
Total	103,491	101,903	99,955	98,010	97,647	96,089	94,385	93,228
Net change in								
agent count								
compared to the								
prior period	1,588	1,948	1,945	363	1,558	1,704	1,157	497

⁽¹⁾ As of September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and March 31, 2015, Independent Regions outside of the U.S. and Canada include 328 agents in the Caribbean and Central America regions which converted from Company-owned Regions to Independent Regions in connection with the regional franchising agreements we entered into with new independent owners of the Caribbean and Central America regions on January 1, 2015.

Revenue. The percentage of revenue from recurring, fixed contractual fees and dues paid by our agents, franchisees and regional franchise owners was 59.7% and 59.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and 58.8% and 60.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. A smaller percentage of our revenue is based on transaction activity derived from a percentage of agent commissions and was 20.7% and 18.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and 18.7% and 17.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA. We present Adjusted EBITDA because we believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful as a supplemental measure in evaluating the performance of our business and provides greater transparency into our results of operations. Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA as a factor in evaluating the performance of our business. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies. See "—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for our definition of Adjusted EBITDA and for further discussion of our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income on a consolidated basis and for our reportable segments.

The following table shows our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins on a consolidated basis and for our reportable segments for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months September 3		
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
	(in thousand	ls, except marg	gin data)		
Consolidated:					
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 25,115	\$ 23,367	\$ 69,520	\$ 63,476	
Adjusted EBITDA margins	55.7 %	52.8 %	52.0 %	49.4 %	
Real Estate Franchise Services:					
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 24,429	\$ 22,633	\$ 67,695	\$ 62,916	
Adjusted EBITDA margins	57.9 %	55.9 %	54.5 %	53.2 %	
Brokerages:					
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 686	\$ 734	\$ 1,825	\$ 560	
Adjusted EBITDA margins	23.7 %	19.4 %	19.4 %	5.5 %	

We generally experience lower Adjusted EBITDA margins in the first and fourth quarters of the fiscal year primarily due to lower home sale transactions in the residential housing market in the U.S. and Canada, which result in lower broker fee revenue in these quarters. In addition, generally, our margins in the first quarter are lower because of higher selling, operating and administrative expenses incurred in connection with our annual convention and associated with year-end compliance activities.

Our Adjusted EBITDA margins result primarily from the high margin Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment. Our owned real estate brokerage operations have much lower margins due primarily to higher fixed costs resulting from rent and personnel expenses reflected in our Brokerages reportable segment, which adversely impacts our consolidated margins.

Factors Affecting Our Consolidated Operating Results

Various factors affected our results for the periods presented in this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" including the following:

Changes in Agent Count. The majority of our revenue is derived from fees and dues based on the number of agents in the RE/MAX network. Due to the low fixed cost structure of our franchise model, the addition of new agents generally requires little incremental investment in capital or infrastructure. Accordingly, the number of agents in our network (particularly in our Company-owned Regions in the U.S. and Canada) is the most important factor affecting our results of operations and the addition of new agents can favorably impact our revenue and Adjusted EBITDA. Historically, the number of agents in the residential real estate industry has been highly correlated with overall home sale transaction activity. Our agent count decreased during the downturn in the U.S. housing sector, but has experienced growth for each quarter beginning in the first quarter of 2012. However, we do not use our overall home

sale transaction activity on a per agent or aggregate basis in order to evaluate our results of operations. We believe that the number of agents in our network is the primary statistic that drives our revenue.

Divestitures. Effective April 10, 2015, we sold certain operating assets and liabilities related to six owned brokerage offices located in the U.S., of RB2B, LLC d/b/a RE/MAX 100 ("RE/MAX 100"), for a sales price of \$0.5 million. We recognized a gain on the sale of the assets and the liabilities transferred of \$0.6 million during the second quarter of 2015.

Effective December 31, 2014, we sold substantially all of the assets of our owned and operated regional franchising operations located in the Caribbean and Central America and entered into regional franchising agreements with new independent owners of those regions on January 1, 2015.

Table of Contents

The comparability of our operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is affected by the aforementioned dispositions.

Leadership Changes and Restructuring Activities. On December 31, 2014, our former Chief Executive Officer and a former director, retired from the Company. Subsequent thereto, we undertook a realignment of various personnel resources. In addition, our former President retired from the Company on August 19, 2015. In conjunction with these changes, we incurred total severance and other related charges of \$0.4 million and \$1.5 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. These costs are reflected in our selling, operating and administrative expenses and affect the comparability of our operating results to the prior year periods. See Notes 10 and 11 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional disclosures, including a related rollforward of the estimated fair value liability recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Changes in Aggregate Fee Revenue Per Agent. A significant portion of our revenue is tied to various fees that are ultimately tied to the number of agents in our franchise system, including annual dues, continuing franchise fees and certain transaction or service-based fees. Our average annual revenue per agent for our Company-owned Regions in the U.S. and Canada is nearly three times greater than for our Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada. Our average revenue per agent in regions outside of the U.S. and Canada is substantially lower than the average revenue per agent in the U.S. and Canada. We have expanded our owned regional franchising operations through acquisitions of Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada, and intend to pursue reacquisitions of other regions in the future. In addition, other changes in our aggregate revenue per agent are derived from changes in our fee arrangements with our franchisees and agents over time. Our revenue per agent also increases in other ways including when transaction sides and sales volume increase. This is because a portion of our revenue comes from fees tied to the number and price of real estate transactions closed by the agents in our network. Due to the low fixed cost structure of our franchise model, modest increases or decreases in revenue per agent impact the comparability of our operating results.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented as dollars for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of financial results to be achieved in future periods.

	Three Mon September	30,	Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2015	2014	2015	2014	
	(in thousand	ds)			
Revenue:	*				
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 18,905	\$ 18,523	\$ 54,833	\$ 54,251	
Annual dues	8,010	7,697	23,687	22,846	
Broker fees	9,321	8,279	24,988	21,853	
Franchise sales and other franchise revenue	5,624	5,472	19,535	17,935	
Brokerage revenue	3,250	4,269	10,551	11,534	
Total revenue	45,110	44,240	133,594	128,419	
Operating expenses:					
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	20,724	20,559	65,525	65,321	
Depreciation and amortization	3,765	3,767	11,384	11,517	
Loss (gain) on sale or disposition of assets, net	9	_	(606)	(1)	
Total operating expenses	24,498	24,326	76,303	76,837	
Operating income	20,612	19,914	57,291	51,582	
Other expenses, net:					
Interest expense	(2,338)	(2,255)	(7,448)	(7,007)	
Interest income	36	58	136	205	
Foreign currency transaction losses	(201)	(811)	(1,585)	(504)	
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	_		(94)	(178)	
Equity in earnings of investees	361	265	963	394	
Total other expenses, net	(2,142)	(2,743)	(8,028)	(7,090)	
Income before provision for income taxes	18,470	17,171	49,263	44,492	
Provision for income taxes	(3,277)	(3,116)	(8,882)	(8,130)	
Net income	\$ 15,193	\$ 14,055	\$ 40,381	\$ 36,362	
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interest	10,396	9,780	27,907	25,299	
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	\$ 4,797	\$ 4,275	\$ 12,474	\$ 11,063	
Adjusted EBITDA (1)	\$ 25,115	\$ 23,367	\$ 69,520	\$ 63,476	

⁽¹⁾ See "—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further discussion of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of the differences between Adjusted EBITDA and net income on a consolidated basis and for our reportable segments.

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014

Total Revenue

A summary of the components of our revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Three Months Ended					
	September	30,	Change			
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)		
	(in thousan	ids, except pe	ercentages)			
Revenue:						
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 18,905	\$ 18,523	\$ 382	2.1	%	
Annual dues	8,010	7,697	313	4.1	%	
Broker fees	9,321	8,279	1,042	12.6	%	
Franchise sales and other franchise revenue	5,624	5,472	152	2.8	%	
Brokerage revenue	3,250	4,269	(1,019)	(23.9))%	
Total revenue	\$ 45,110	\$ 44,240	\$ 870	2.0	%	

Continuing Franchise Fees

Revenue from continuing franchise fees, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased as result of the following:

- · an increase of \$1.3 million due primarily to agent count growth, of which \$1.1 million was related to our Company-owned and Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada; and
- an increase of \$0.1 million from six previously owned brokerage offices that we sold in April 2015 and for which
 the corresponding continuing franchise fees were previously eliminated in consolidation and the related brokerage
 revenue was reflected in our Brokerages reportable segment.

The aforementioned increases were partially offset by a net decrease of \$0.3 million partly due to certain changes in our aggregate fee revenue per agent associated with fee waivers related to a training and recruiting program that began in the fourth quarter of 2014 and the divestiture of our Caribbean and Central America regions on December 31, 2014. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar also negatively impacted revenue from continuing franchise fees by approximately \$0.6 million.

Annual Dues

Revenue from annual dues, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased \$0.6 million from the overall increase in total agent count of 5,844 from September 30, 2014 to September 30, 2015, of which 2,997 agents were located in the U.S. and Canada. The aforementioned increase was partially offset by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar, which adversely impacted annual dues revenue by approximately \$0.3 million.

Broker Fees

Revenue from broker fees, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased due to an increase of \$1.3 million in Company-owned and Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada due primarily to increased agent count and home sale transaction activity. The aforementioned increase in broker fee revenue was partially offset by a decrease in revenue from broker fees of \$0.3 million due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar and the divestiture of our Caribbean and Central America regions on December 31, 2014.

Franchise Sales and Other Franchise Revenue

Franchise sales and other franchise revenue, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased primarily due to an increase of \$0.4 million from franchise sales driven by an increase in the total number of office sales in our Company-owned Regions in the U.S. Additionally, other franchise revenue increased \$0.1 million from national and regional events held for the franchisees in our network. The aforementioned increases were offset by a reduction in franchise sales revenue of \$0.4 million related to global sub-regional franchise sales.

Brokerage Revenue

Brokerage revenue, which principally represents fees assessed by our owned brokerages for services provided to their affiliated real estate agents and is entirely attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment, decreased \$1.0 million primarily due to a reduction in the number of owned brokerage offices as a result of the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015.

Operating Expenses

A summary of the components of our operating expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Three Months Ended				
	September 3	Change			
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)	
	(in thousands, except percentages)				
Operating expenses:					
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 20,724	\$ 20,559	\$ 165	0.8 %	
Depreciation and amortization	3,765	3,767	(2)	(0.1) %	
Loss on sale or disposition of assets, net	9		9	100.0%	
Total operating expenses	\$ 24,498	\$ 24,326	\$ 172	0.7 %	
Percent of revenue	54.3 %	55.0 %			

Selling, Operating and Administrative Expenses

A summary of the components of our selling, operating and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

	September 30,		Change			
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)		
	(in thousar	ids, except pe	ercentages)			
Selling, operating and administrative expenses:						
Personnel	\$ 10,533	\$ 10,348	\$ 185	1.8 %		
Professional fees	2,078	2,029	49	2.4 %		
Rent and related facility operations	2,914	3,174	(260)	(8.2)%		
Other	5,199	5,008	191	3.8 %		
Total selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 20,724	\$ 20,559	\$ 165	0.8 %		

Table of Contents

Total selling, operating and administrative expenses increased as follows:

- · Personnel costs increased \$0.4 million in our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment primarily as a result of:
- o an increase in general personnel costs and salaries of \$1.0 million primarily due to employee incentives and other merit-based compensation;
- o an increase in severance and other related charges of \$0.3 million associated with the retirement of our former President on August 19, 2015; and
- o an increase in equity-based compensation expense of \$0.2 million due to restricted stock units granted to certain employees and directors in March 2015; partially offset by
- o a decrease in personnel costs of \$0.9 million due to a reduction in overall headcount at our corporate headquarters as a result of the restructuring plan implemented during the fourth quarter of 2014 and the retirement of our former Chief Executive Officer on December 31, 2014.

Personnel costs included in our Brokerages reportable segment decreased \$0.3 million primarily due to the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015.

- · Professional fees increased primarily due to an increase in costs incurred of \$0.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015 related to investments in our information technology infrastructure, partially offset by a reduction in general consulting fees of \$0.4 million. The majority of our professional fees and the aforementioned fluctuations relate primarily to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment.
- Rent and related facility operations expense decreased primarily due to a decrease in rent expense as a result of the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015, which is entirely attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment.
- · Other selling, operating and administrative expenses increased primarily due to an increase of \$0.2 million in commission expense correlated with the increase in office franchise sales in our Company-owned regions. The majority of our other selling, operating and administrative expenses and the aforementioned fluctuation primarily relates to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment.

Depreciation and Amortization

The majority of our depreciation and amortization expense is attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment and remained flat at \$3.8 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Other Expenses, Net

A summary of the components of our other expenses, net for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Change	
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)
	(in thousands, except percentages)			
Other expenses, net:				
Interest expense	\$ (2,338)	\$ (2,255)	\$ (83)	3.7 %
Interest income	36	58	(22)	(37.9)%
Foreign currency transaction losses	(201)	(811)	610	(75.2)%
Loss on early extinguishment of debt				_ %
Equity in earnings of investees	361	265	96	36.2 %
Total other expenses, net	\$ (2,142)	\$ (2,743)	\$ 601	(21.9)%
Percent of revenue	-4.7 %	-6.2 %		

Other expenses, net decreased primarily due to a decrease in foreign currency transaction losses driven by the reduction in cash held in foreign currencies from the repatriation of cash generated from our Canadian operations beginning in the first quarter of 2015 and fluctuations in exchanges rates of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar. Other expenses, net also decreased due to an increase in income recognized from our investment in a mortgage brokerage company primarily as a result of increased mortgage refinancing activity and is the only material component of other expenses, net attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased primarily due to an increase in the income before provision for income taxes during the three months ended September 30, 2015 as our effective income tax rate remained relatively consistent at 17.7% and 18.1% during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our effective income tax rate depends on many factors, including a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the portion of RMCO's earnings attributable to the non-controlling interests are not subject to corporate-level taxes because RMCO is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore is treated as a "flow through entity," as well as annual changes in state income tax rates.

Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interest

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, which represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in RMCO held by RIHI, Inc. ("RIHI"), increased primarily due to the increase in RMCO's net income of \$1.5 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015. For the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the non-controlling unitholders had a weighted average economic interest in RMCO of 58.98% and 60.50%, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins for our consolidated results were \$25.1 million and 55.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, an increase of \$1.7 million from the comparable prior year period. On a consolidated basis, the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to global currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, negatively impacted our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins by \$1.3 million and 1.4%, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins for our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment were \$24.4 million and 57.9% for the three months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, an increase of \$1.8 million from the comparable prior year period. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment was principally the result of an increase in total revenue of \$1.8 million due primarily to agent count growth, an increase in home sale transaction activity and an increase in franchise revenue recognized from office franchise sales. Adjusted EBITDA was also positively impacted by a decrease of \$0.6 million in foreign currency transaction losses. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was partially offset by an increase of \$0.6 million in selling, operating and administrative expenses, adjusted for the impact of losses and gains on sublease activity, non-cash straight-line rent expense, non-recurring severance and other related expenses and acquisition integration and professional fees expense.

Adjusted EBITDA for our Brokerages reportable segment remained flat at \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. Adjusted EBITDA margin increased by approximately 430 basis points for our Brokerages reportable segment due primarily to an increase in equity in earnings of investees.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 and 2014

Total Revenue

A summary of the components of our revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change		
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)	
	(in thousands, except percentages)				
Revenue:					
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 54,833	\$ 54,251	\$ 582	1.1 %	
Annual dues	23,687	22,846	841	3.7 %	
Broker fees	24,988	21,853	3,135	14.3 %	
Franchise sales and other franchise revenue	19,535	17,935	1,600	8.9 %	
Brokerage revenue	10,551	11,534	(983)	(8.5)%	
Total revenue	\$ 133,594	\$ 128,419	\$ 5,175	4.0 %	

Continuing Franchise Fees

Revenue from continuing franchise fees, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased as a result of the following:

- · an increase of \$2.8 million due primarily to agent count growth, of which \$2.5 million was related to our Company-owned and Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada; and
- · an increase of \$0.2 million from six previously owned brokerage offices that we sold in April 2015 and for which the corresponding continuing franchise fees were previously eliminated in consolidation and the related brokerage revenue was reflected in our Brokerages reportable segment.

The aforementioned increases were offset by a net decrease in revenue from continuing franchise fees of \$0.8 million partly due to certain changes in our aggregate fee revenue per agent associated with fee waivers related to a training and recruiting program that began in the fourth quarter of 2014 and the divestiture of our Caribbean and Central America regions on December 31, 2014. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar and the Euro also negatively impacted revenue from continuing franchise fees by approximately \$1.3 million and \$0.3 million, respectively.

Table of Contents

Annual Dues

Revenue from annual dues, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased \$1.6 million from the overall increase in total agent count of 5,844 from September 30, 2014 to September 30, 2015, of which 2,997 agents were located in the U.S. and Canada. The aforementioned increase was partially offset by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar, which adversely impacted annual dues revenue by approximately \$0.8 million.

Broker Fees

Revenue from broker fees, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased due to an increase of \$3.9 million in Company-owned and Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada due primarily to increased agent count and home sale transaction activity. The aforementioned increase in broker fee revenue was partially offset by a decrease in revenue from broker fees of \$0.6 million due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar and the divestiture of our Caribbean and Central America regions on December 31, 2014.

Franchise Sales and Other Franchise Revenue

Franchise sales and other franchise revenue, which is primarily attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment, increased primarily due to an increase in registration and other related income of \$0.9 million, of which \$0.6 million is due to an increase in revenue from registration fees charged to attendees at our annual convention for our agents held in March. Additionally, revenue from franchise sales increased \$0.8 million due primarily to an increase in the total number of office sales in our Company-owned and Independent Regions in the U.S.

Brokerage Revenue

Brokerage revenue principally represents fees assessed by our owned brokerages for services provided to their affiliated real estate agents and is entirely attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment. Brokerage revenue decreased \$1.9 million due to a reduction in the number of owned brokerage offices as a result of the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015, which was partially offset by an increase in brokerage revenue of \$0.9 million primarily due to an increase in management fee revenue recognized by our remaining owned brokerages.

Operating Expenses

A summary of the components of our operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

Nine Months Ended
September 30, Change
2015 2014 (\$) (%)
(in thousands, except percentages)

Operating expenses:

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 65,525	\$ 65,321	\$ 204	0.3 %
Depreciation and amortization	11,384	11,517	(133)	(1.2)%
Gain on sale or disposition of assets, net	(606)	(1)	(605)	*
Total operating expenses	\$ 76,303	\$ 76,837	\$ (534)	(0.7)%
Percent of revenue	57.1 %	59.8 %		

^{*} Calculation is not meaningful.

Table of Contents

Selling, Operating and Administrative Expenses

A summary of the components of our selling, operating and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change	
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)
	(in thousands, except percentages)			
Selling, operating and administrative expenses:				
Personnel	\$ 31,957	\$ 31,685	\$ 272	0.9 %
Professional fees	6,304	5,850	454	7.8 %
Rent and related facility operations	9,016	9,363	(347)	(3.7)%
Other	18,248	18,423	(175)	(0.9)%
Total selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 65,525	\$ 65.321	\$ 204	0.3 %

Selling, operating and administrative expenses increased as follows:

- · Personnel costs increased \$0.7 million in our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment primarily as a result of:
- o an increase in general personnel costs and salaries of \$1.8 million primarily due to employee incentives and other merit-based compensation;
- o an increase in severance and other related charges of \$0.7 million for certain employees that were terminated during the nine months ended September 30, 2015, including the retirement of our former President on August 19, 2015; and
- o an increase of \$0.6 million due to additional equity-based compensation expense recognized for shares granted pursuant to our equity-based compensation plans and restricted stock units granted to certain employees and directors in March 2015; partially offset by
- o a decrease in personnel costs of \$2.6 million due to a reduction in overall headcount at our corporate headquarters as a result of the restructuring plan implemented during the fourth quarter of 2014 and the retirement of our former Chief Executive Officer on December 31, 2014.

Personnel costs included in our Brokerages reportable segment decreased \$0.4 million primarily due to the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015.

- Professional fees increased due to additional professional fees of \$0.8 million incurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 related to investments in our information technology infrastructure and additional legal fees incurred of \$0.1 million for certain litigation matters. The aforementioned increases were partially offset by an overall reduction in compliance fees of \$0.5 million related primarily to ongoing costs incurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 in connection with the initial public offering in October 2013 (the "IPO") and related reorganization transactions. The majority of our professional fees and the aforementioned fluctuations relate primarily to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment.
- · Rent and related facility operations expense decreased primarily due to a decrease in rent expense of \$0.5 million as a result of the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015, which is entirely attributable to our Brokerages reportable

segment.

• Other selling, operating and administrative expenses decreased primarily as a result of a reduction in costs incurred of \$0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to publishing certain marketing materials to our franchise network in digital form and a decrease of \$0.3 million as a result of synergies realized from hosting regional events concurrently with our annual convention. The aforementioned decreases were offset by an increase in advertising and production costs of \$0.3 million as a result of a change in our marketing strategy adopted during the third quarter of 2014. The majority of our other selling, operating and administrative expenses and the aforementioned fluctuations primarily relate to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment.

Depreciation and Amortization

The majority of our depreciation and amortization expense is attributable to our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment and decreased primarily due to a net decrease in depreciation expense of \$0.1 million related to assets that became fully depreciated.

Gain on Sale or Disposition of Assets, Net

The increase in the gain on sale or disposition of assets, net is due to the gain of \$0.6 million recognized for the sale of RE/MAX 100 during the second quarter of 2015, which is entirely attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment.

Other Expenses, Net

A summary of the components of our other expenses, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

	Nine Month September 3		Change		
	2015	2014	(\$)	(%)	
	(in thousands, except percentages)				
Other expenses, net:					
Interest expense	\$ (7,448)	\$ (7,007)	\$ (441)	6.3 %	
Interest income	136	205	(69)	(33.7)%	
Foreign currency transaction losses	(1,585)	(504)	(1,081)	214.5 %	
Loss on early extinguishment of debt	(94)	(178)	84	(47.2)%	
Equity in earnings of investees	963	394	569	144.4 %	
Total other expenses, net	\$ (8,028)	\$ (7,090)	\$ (938)	13.2 %	
Percent of revenue	-6.0 %	-5.5 %			

Other expenses, net increased due to an increase in foreign currency transaction losses of \$1.1 million as a result of the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar and an increase in cash held in Canadian dollars prior to the repatriation of \$23.9 million in Canadian dollars, or \$19.2 million in U.S. dollars, in February 2015. Interest expense also contributed to the increase in other expenses, net due primarily to costs incurred during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 associated with an amendment to our 2013 Senior Secured Credit Facility on March 11, 2015. The aforementioned increases to other expenses, net were partially offset by an increase in income recognized from our investment in a mortgage brokerage company primarily as a result of increased mortgage refinancing activity

and is the only material component of other expenses, net attributable to our Brokerages reportable segment.

Table of Contents

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased primarily due to an increase in the income before provision for income taxes during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 as our effective income tax rate remained relatively consistent at 18.0% and 18.3% during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our effective income tax rate depends on many factors, including a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the portion of RMCO's earnings attributable to the non-controlling interests are not subject to corporate-level taxes because RMCO is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore is treated as a "flow through entity," as well as annual changes in state income tax rates.

Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interest

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, which represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in RMCO held by RIHI, increased primarily due to the increase in RMCO's net income of \$5.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, the non-controlling unitholders had a weighted average economic interest in RMCO of 59.39% and 60.47%, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins for our consolidated results were \$69.5 million and 52.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, an increase of \$6.0 million from the comparable prior year period. On a consolidated basis, the strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to global currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, negatively impacted our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins by \$4.2 million and 2.0%, respectively. The sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015 positively impacted our Adjusted EBITDA margins on a consolidated basis by 0.4%.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins for our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment were \$67.7 million and 54.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, an increase of \$4.8 million from the comparable prior year period. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in our Real Estate Franchise Services reportable segment was principally the result of an increase in total revenue of \$5.9 million due primarily to agent count growth, an increase in other franchise revenue recognized from our annual convention and an increase in office franchise sales. Adjusted EBITDA was adversely impacted by an increase of \$1.1 million in foreign currency transaction losses and an increase of \$0.1 million in selling, operating and administrative expenses, adjusted for the impact of losses and gains on sublease activity, non-cash straight-line rent expense, non-recurring severance and other related expenses and acquisition integration and professional fees expense.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margins for our Brokerages reportable segment were \$1.8 million and 19.4% for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, an increase of \$1.3 million from the comparable prior year period. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA in our Brokerages reportable segment was primarily a result of an increase in revenue, excluding disposition activity, of \$1.0 million driven by increased management fee revenue recognized by our owned brokerages, and an increase in equity in earnings of investees of \$0.6 million. The aforementioned increases were partially offset by an overall reduction to Adjusted EBITDA of \$0.1 million from the sale of RE/MAX 100 in April 2015.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has adopted rules to regulate the use in filings with the SEC and in public disclosures of financial measures that are not in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

("U.S. GAAP"), such as Adjusted EBITDA and the ratios related thereto. These measures are derived on the basis of methodologies other than in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Table of Contents

We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (consolidated net income before depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest income and the provision for income taxes, each of which is presented in our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), adjusted for the impact of the following items that we do not consider representative of our ongoing operating performance: loss or gain on sale or disposition of assets and sublease, loss on early extinguishment of debt, non-cash straight-line rent expense, non-recurring severance and other related expenses and acquisition integration and professional fees expense. During the third quarter of 2014, we revised our definition of Adjusted EBITDA to no longer adjust for recurring equity-based compensation expense. Adjusted EBITDA in prior periods has been revised to reflect this change for consistency of presentation. During the fourth quarter of 2014, we revised our definition of Adjusted EBITDA to adjust for non-recurring severance and other related expenses. Prior to such time, we had not incurred any of these types of expenses.

Because Adjusted EBITDA omits certain non-cash items and other non-recurring cash charges or other items, we believe that it is less susceptible to variances that affect our operating performance resulting from depreciation, amortization and other non-cash and non-recurring cash charges or other items, and is more reflective of other factors that affect our operating performance. We present Adjusted EBITDA because we believe it is useful as a supplemental measure in evaluating the performance of our operating businesses and provides greater transparency into our results of operations. Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA as a factor in evaluating the performance of our businesses.

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider Adjusted EBITDA either in isolation or as a substitute for analyzing our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

- this measure does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
- this measure does not reflect our interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt;
- this measure does not reflect our income tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes;
- this measure does not reflect historical cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;
- this measure does not reflect the cash requirements to pay dividends to stockholders of our Class A common stock and tax and other cash distributions to our non-controlling unitholders;
- this measure does not reflect the cash requirements to pay RIHI and Oberndorf Investments LLC ("Oberndorf") pursuant to the separate tax receivable agreements entered into at the time of the IPO (collectively, the "TRAs");
- · although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often require replacement in the future, and these measures do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and
- · other companies may calculate this measure differently so they may not be comparable.

Table of Contents

A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income for our consolidated results and reportable segments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 is set forth in the following table:

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 (in thousands)		Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014	
Consolidated:	*	*	*	
Net income	\$ 15,193	\$ 14,055	\$ 40,381	\$ 36,362
Depreciation and amortization	3,765	3,767	11,384	11,517
Interest expense	2,338	2,255	7,448	7,007
Interest income	(36)	(58)	(136)	(205)
Provision for income taxes	3,277	3,116	8,882	8,130
EBITDA	24,537	23,135	67,959	62,811
Gain on sale or disposition of assets and sublease (1)	(66)	(52)	(773)	(277)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (2)			94	178
Non-cash straight-line rent expense (3)	201	197	681	614
Non-recurring severance and other related expenses (4)	443		1,482	
Acquisition integration and professional fees expense (5)	_	87	77	150
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 25,115	\$ 23,367	\$ 69,520	\$ 63,476
Real Estate Franchise Services:				
Net income	\$ 14,682	\$ 13,459	\$ 38,576	\$ 36,017
Depreciation and amortization	3,694	3,695	11,159	11,305
Interest expense	2,328	2,252	7,413	6,997
Interest income	(36)	,	•	,